Albemarle County Planning Commission
FINAL Minutes Regular Meeting
November 22, 2022

The Albemarle County Planning Commission held a public hearing on Tuesday, November 22,
2022, at 6:00 p.m.

Members attending were: Karen Firehock, Chair; Corey Clayborne, Vice-Chair; Julian Bivins;
Fred Missel; Luis Carrazana; and Lonnie Murray.

Members absent: none
Other officials present were Charles Rapp, Director of Planning; Andy Herrick, County
Attorney’s Office; Scott Clark; Kevin McCollum; Andy Reitelbach; Kevin McDermott; and
Carolyn Shaffer, Clerk to the Planning Commission (via Zoom).
Call to Order and Establish Quorum
Ms. Shaffer called the roll.
Ms. Firehock established a quorum.
Moment of Silence
Ms. Firehock led the Commission in a moment of silence.
Other Matters Not Listed on the Agenda from the Public
There were none.
Consent Agenda

There were no items pulled or amended from the Consent Agenda.

Mr. Missel moved that the Commission approve the Consent Agenda, which was seconded by
Mr. Murray.

Mr. Clayborne stated that he would abstain because he had not been present for the meetings.
The motion carried unanimously (5-0). Mr. Clayborne abstained
PUBLIC HEARINGS

ZMA202100001 Willow Glen
Mr. Reitelbach greeted the Planning Commission and stated that he was a Senior Planner with
the Albemarle County Planning Division. He said that he would present ZMA2021-01, Willow
Glen. He began by showing an aerial view of the subject property of the rezoning application. He
said that it consisted of six parcels in Willow Glen, with two phases, one circled on the screen
which had been developed with 36 residential units and associated open space lots. He said that
three of those parcels, two open space parcels and one residential lot, were part of this rezoning
application. He said that the majority of the application was the second phase, Phase 2 of Willow

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Glen, which consisted of three, larger, undeveloped parcels that were highlighted on the screen.
He said the airport to the west, Deerwood Village and Abington on Place to the east, and one
parcel that was surrounded by Willow Glen on Dickerson Road that he wanted to note was not a
part of the application.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the application consisted of six parcels that totaled approximately 20.457
acres. He said that three parcels were in Phase 2 and were 19.27 acres, and the three parcels of
Phase 1 were included in the proffer amendments that were part of this application. He said that
it was an amendment to a previously approved rezoning, ZMA2006-00019, so the zoning district,
Planned Residential Development, would remain the same, and the application was to amend the
application plan and the proffers previously approved and accepted with that earlier rezoning.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the applicant was requesting to increase the maximum number of units
in the development by a total of 126. He said that currently, 198 units were permitted in the Phase
2 area, and the applicant was requesting a maximum of 324 units in the Phase 2 area for an
overall increase of 126. He said that there were 36 units previously constructed in Phase 1, so
the overall Willow Glen development would total 360 units. He said that in Phase 2, the gross and
net density would be 16.81 units, and pulling the Phase 1 part of the development that had already
been constructed, it would be an overall density of 15.08 units.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the zoning of the property was PRD in accordance with the previously
approved rezoning that included proffers. He said that there was a maximum of 198 units
permitted in Phase 2, and as he mentioned, there were 234 units total, the 36 units constructed
in Phase 1, which left 198 units to be built in Phase 2. He said that the zoning overlay districts for
this property included steep slopes and the airport impact area. He said that the surrounding
zoning districts included Rural Areas to the west, north, and southwest. He said that while these
properties were zoned Rural Areas, they were all located within the community of Hollymead
Development Area. He said that the property to the east, Deer Wood Village, was zoned R4,
Abbington Place to the southeast was zoned Neighborhood Model District, and there were some
properties to the south that were zoned R15 residential.

Mr. Reitelbach said that this property was in the Places 29 Master Plan. He said that as he had
mentioned, all of the surrounding properties were located within the Places 29 Master Plan and
were located within a development area. He said that the vast majority of this site, which was
identified in orange on the screen, was Urban Density Residential, which allowed residential
between 6.01 and 34 units per acre, with supporting uses. He said that there was a small sliver
of property in the southeast portion of the parcel that was designated Neighborhood Density
Residential, the yellow color on the slide that allowed 3 to 6 units per acre. He said that in the
Places 29 Master Plan, the residential building height for Urban Density Residential
recommended a maximum of four stories.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the proposal was more specifically a request for a maximum of 324
dwelling units in Phase 2, totaling 360 units in all of Willow Glen, which was an increase of 126
units from the prior application. He said that the density was approximately 16.81 units in Phase
2 alone. He said that a change requested by the applicant was a change in unit types for Phase
2. He said that currently under the existing rezoning, it was a mix of different unit types, including
single-family detached, townhouses, duplexes, and condos, however, the applicant was looking
to construct all multi-family units with the new amendment.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the multi-family apartments would be spread across 12 residential
buildings that would be 3 to 4 stories in height, with most having three stories on the front facade,

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 2
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



and four stories built into the hillside or rear. He said that there were additional buildings for a
clubhouse and fitness center. He said that there were two site entrances to the property off of
Dickerson Road, and currently under the existing rezoning, there was a proffered road connection
from Town Center Drive through the Willow Glen development to Dickerson Road, and the
applicant was proposing to eliminate this through-street and make the portion of that existing road
that was currently constructed in Phase 1 terminate in a turnaround and become a dead-end
street. He said that in PRD districts, the ordinance required that 25% of the property be open
space, and the applicant had proposed that 37.84% of the Phase 2 property would be open space,
or approximately 7.29 acres.

Mr. Reitelbach showed a page from the new application plan that was being proposed, showing
the building envelopes for the various buildings surrounding the site, the open space areas, and
the stormwater pond in the rear, which was also utilized as open space. He said that this image
was included in the staff report package as well. He showed for comparison the old application
plan that was approved back in the 2006 rezoning, which was also included in Attachment 4 of
the staff report. He said that looking at the specifics of the proffers for this proposal, not only the
application was being changed but the proffers were being changed as well, and the applicant
was proposing to remove a proffer that required 15% of the constructed dwelling units being
affordable for 10 years as well as the County option for cash in lieu.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the affordable housing proffer was not being eliminated but being
replaced with a note on the application plan, which was permitted since the application plan was
the governing plan for a planned development district. He said that the applicant was proposing
to make 20% of the constructed units in Phase 2 affordable at 80% AMI for a period of 15 years,
which was Note #4 on the new application plan. He said that the applicant was requesting to
remove a proffer that was accepted with the original rezoning that would require a cash
contribution for each unit constructed and not designated as affordable.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the applicant was requesting to remove the proffered connection to Town
Center Drive, which was the through road that connected Town Center Drive through the
development over to Dickerson Road. He said that the portion of the road that had already been
constructed in Phase 1 was known as Shannon Glen Court and would be terminated in Phase 1,
near the property line of Phase 1 and Phase 2, so there would be no vehicular connection between
the two phases.

Mr. Reitelbach said that however, the applicant was proposing a trail connection to connect those
two phases. He said that the applicant was also proffering sidewalk construction and the
conveyance of temporary grading and construction easement for the Dickerson Road frontage on
the southwest side of the property. He said that the grading and construction easement was for
allowing the extension of that sidewalk onto the adjacent property when that property was
developed.

Mr. Reitelbach noted that in the staff report, the names of the schools in the grid included were
incorrect, but the text of the staff report had the correct names included. He said that the correct
names were included in the grid shown on the slide, which were Baker-Butler Elementary,
Lakeside Middle, and Albemarle High Schools. He said that Baker-Butler and Albemarle were
currently over capacity, and both were expected to remain so over the next ten-year planning
period of the school system, and this development would add additional students at both of those
schools.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 3
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Mr. Reitelbach said that Lakeside Middle School currently had capacity but was expected to be
over capacity by the 2028-2029 school year. He said that overall, in the bottom row of the grid,
they could see the projected number of students that would be generated at each school based
on the school system’s calculations. He said that it was about 29 students at elementary, 6.5 at
middle, and 19.5 students for high school, for a total of 55 students. He noted that the 55 number
included all 324 units in the proposed development and did not include the increase in students
for what was permitted by-right.

Mr. Reitelbach said that looking at the streets and transportation issues with this proposal, TIA
was reviewed with this application and there were no concerns from VDOT or the County’s
Transportation Planning Staff with this TIA. He said that Shannon Glen Court was the constructed
portion of the through-street that had been approved with the previous rezoning, and was
approved as a public street; however, the bonds were still in place and had not been accepted by
VDOT for public maintenance at this time. He said that to truncate this street, in Phase 1 the
applicant was requesting this and not extend it into the Phase 2 area. He said that VDOT required
some changes to the street to be made, mainly to make the temporary turnaround that was
currently there become a permanent turnaround so that it could meet all cul-de-sac standards.

Mr. Reitelbach stated that the applicant proposed a trail system around the property, including a
bridge and trail connecting the edge of Shannon Glen Court with the Phase 2 property. He said
that in place of extending the through road, a walking and biking multi-use trail would be offered.
He said that there was a proffered sidewalk along the southwest frontage of the property. He
clarified that no sidewalk was currently provided along the northwest frontage of the property. He
stated that staff saw sidewalks as being important for pedestrian orientation, multi-modal
transportation, and inter-parcel connectivity—all important principles of the 12 Neighborhood
Model Principles.

Mr. Reitelbach noted that due to recent changes in VDOT policy, they may not accept so-called
sidewalks to nowhere—sidewalks that did not connect on either end to other sidewalks. He said
that such sidewalks may not be accepted into the public highway maintenance system, and that
could be an issue in constructing sidewalks in areas that did not currently have sidewalks.

Mr. Reitelbach stated that along with the zoning application, two special exceptions were
requested. He said that one was to request a modification in the recreational facilities from those
listed in the zoning ordinance. He stated that the applicant proposed a reduced number of tot lots
from what was required in the zoning ordinance.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the applicant proposed three tot lots to be provided throughout the
development. He said that the tot lots would be replaced with recreational facilities, such as a club
house and a fitness center with a pool. He noted that there were various trails connecting the
building to the areas. He stated that there would be facilities around the stormwater management
pond to make the pond an amenity for the development, and items would include a viewing
platform and a gazebo.

Mr. Reitelbach stated that the applicant submitted a request to reduce the required number of
parking spaces across the development by 5%, about 28 spaces, and about 570 spaces would
still be provided. He said that staff did not have objections to the request if approval of the ZMA
was recommended. He stated that there were several positive aspects to the development, which
included that it was consistent with the uses and density recommended by the Places 29 Master
Plan, and the density of 16 units per acre fell within the range of 6-34 units per acre in Urban
Density Residential, the request was consistent or mostly consistent with the majority of the

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 4
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



applicable neighborhood model principles, and the request provided affordable units at 20% of
the total number of units constructed, consistent with the County policy on affordable housing.

Mr. Reitelbach said that there were concerns about this development, the first being the inter-
parcel vehicular connectivity that was being eliminated with this proposal. He said that the road,
Shannon Glen Court, designated as Road D in the application plan from the 2006 rezoning that
connected Phase 1 and 2, was proposed to be eliminated, so there would be no vehicular
connections between the two phases and going through this development to Town Center Drive
and Dickerson Road.

Mr. Reitelbach said that Shannon Glen Court, the portion that had already been constructed, had
not been accepted by VDOT into the public road system, so it would still need to work through
the process to address any concerns that VDOT or the engineering division of the County may
have in ensuring that a road previously expected to be extended farther and was now proposed
to be truncated into a dead-end cul-de-sac was still accepted by VDOT. He said that the proposed
development would result in additional student enrollment at Albemarle High and Baker-Butler
Elementary Schools, which were already over capacity. He said there was also the issue of the
sidewalk that he had mentioned earlier.

Mr. Reitelbach said that staff did not recommend for this application ZMA2021-00001 Willow Glen
to be approved due to the concerns outlined in the previous slide. He said that regarding the
special exceptions, SE2021-00007 and SE2021-00008, if the Planning Commission did choose
to recommend approval of the rezoning, staff had no objections to the approval of either the
special exceptions, however, if the Planning Commission chose not to recommend approval of
the rezoning, it would not make sense to approve either of the special exceptions.

Ms. Firehock asked if there were any questions for staff.

Mr. Bivins said that effectively the plan was a new proposal, although it was established 5 years
ago.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the original rezoning was approved in 2007.

Mr. Bivins said that the applicant would not have to come before the Planning Commission if they
did Phase 2 as it was decided 15 years ago and could just get permits and roll it out.

Mr. Reitelbach said yes.

Mr. Bivins said that they were being asked to divorce a proposal that was established 15 years
ago and consider a new proposal and to disregard all the various connectivity that was agreed to
15 years ago, because all the connectivity was being pushed away. He said that a walking bridge
was not connectivity compared to a road, so they were looking at a completely different use for
this piece of property.

Ms. Firehock said yes. She said that it was housing.

Mr. Bivins said that it was still residential.

Mr. Missel said that he understood the applicant was requesting a 5% reduction in parking. He
asked if that was the maximum that they would request.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 5
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Mr. Reitelbach said that they could request more. He said that up to 35% could be requested
under the ordinance, but the flexibility of design and what they were proposing indicated that 5%
was what worked for them.

Mr. Missel said that that was good to know. He asked if it was a cap placed by the County.
Mr. Reitelbach said no.

Mr. Carrazana asked if the maximum height the applicant was proposing exceeded the guideline
for step backs.

Mr. Reitelbach said that it did not. He said that factor was analyzed, and the four-story height
where it was on the basement was generally on the rear of the buildings, so they measured the
step back from the front of the buildings.

Ms. Firehock said that there was an inset that showed it was 45 feet tall.

Mr. Carrazana said that was on the back side.

Ms. Firehock asked if that was with the basement.

Mr. Bivins said that with the basement, it was 50.

Mr. Carrazana asked if that was what it said.

Ms. Firehock said yes. She said the scale showed the basement to be 50.
Mr. Carrazana asked if the evaluation was that it fell within the requirements.

Mr. Reitelbach said that was correct. He said that it did not require a special exception for waiving
the step back requirement.

Ms. Firehock asked if there were any other questions for staff. Hearing none, she asked to hear
from the applicant.

Ms. Laurie Schweller greeted the members of the Planning Commission and stated that she was
representing the applicant. She said that the applicant was requesting permission for approval for
Dickerson Overlook, Phase 2 of Willow Glen. She said that the applicant, Dickerson Ridge, LLC.,
was represented by George Ray, and Breeden Construction was the contract-purchaser,
developer, and manager. She said that tonight they had with them Brian Revere and Moses
Romero, as well as Steve Edwards, who prepared all of the zoning drawings and design, and Joe
Wallace from Ramey Kemp'’s traffic engineering, and her colleague Valerie Long and herself were
representing Williams Mullen.

Ms. Schweller said that the property being considered by the Planning Commission was
comprised of 19.7 acres. She said that Mr. Reitelbach had described the context and different
housing types around the project. She said that the airport was immediately across Dickerson
Road to the west, and Hollymead Town Center was .7 miles to the east. She showed on the
screen an image of the view of Dickerson Road with the airport on the left and project property on
the right. She said that 700 feet south of this section of road was the intersection with Town Center
Drive.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 6
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Ms. Schweller said that a brief history of the project was that it was rezoned in 2007, the site plan
was approved in 2008, and then the recession stymied the work on the project. She said that Mr.
George Ray had been working to make the project work in a number of different ways that could
be discussed in more detail if needed. She noted that Mr. Ray built Phase 1 with 14 single-family
detached units and 22 townhomes, and in doing so, provided over $500,000 in cash proffers, six
affordable units, and $10,000 to the Service Authority to analyze and upgrade systems.

Ms. Schweller said that the request being made would provide quality, multi-family housing in the
development area in close proximity to all other housing types, eliminate the cash proffers to make
the project economically viable, dramatically increase the number of affordable units and
affordability generally, and provide inter-parcel connectivity between the existing Willow Glen
neighborhood and Dickerson Overlook as a ped-bike connection rather than vehicular. She
showed the future land use plan designation and stated that the parcel was zoned Urban Density
Residential with a density of 6.01 to 34 dwelling units per acre. She said that the existing plan
was only 10 dwelling units per acre, and Phase 2 was proposing 16.81 units per acre, which was
needed in the development area for housing.

Ms. Schweller said that in the application plan, their new pedestrian path was circling the
neighborhood, and an amenity pond that would be stocked with fish. She said that there would
be outdoor bicycle racks and indoor bicycle storage facilities throughout the project, and a location
in front for a future transit stop if the routes extend in this direction. She said the PRD plan was
where the affordable housing commitment was located. She said that in the illustrative plan, they
could see that there would be parks throughout the neighborhood, not only in the center, and the
recreational area exceeded the requirement with 38% in this phase.

Ms. Schweller said that they had requested some substitutions to make the recreational area
more appropriate for the residents, and Breeden Construction had constructed at least 45 other
developments in Virginia and was very familiar with what its residents would use and would like
to see. She said that all recreational amenities would be free and available to both Willow Glen
Phase 1 and Dickerson Overlook, and that the gym and pool membership would be available for
a fee to all residents.

Ms. Schweller said that she would show the Commission the many different parks and other
amenities throughout the neighborhood. She said there was a pond, amphitheater, pool, fithess
center, three tot lots or playgrounds, a dog park, gathering places throughout the development
with seating areas, fire pits and grilling stations. She said that there was also a community garden
and more gathering spaces, and in the center would be a large lawn area with various amenities.

Ms. Schweller said that she would address the inter-parcel connectivity and pedestrian-friendly
design. She said that on the Google map satellite image, it could be seen that the parcel
connection they would provide for pedestrians and cyclists would encourage bike-ped
connectivity, and there was already a sidewalk along Town Center Drive. She said that there was
no impact that needed to be addressed with a vehicular connection; they had no transportation
issues in this area. She said that the intersection with Shannon Glen Court and Town Center
Drive could be reached from the project by two routes, but one took significantly longer due to
traffic bumps, pedestrian crossings, and the developed neighborhood of Shannon Glen Court.

Ms. Schweller said that they thought the inter-parcel connection as they were proposing it was a
positive and not a negative. She said that this was because the development would no longer be
automobile centric. She said that the surrounding development over the past 15 years made it

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 7
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



impractical to do this development and it would be unfair to send the cars from 300 apartment
units through Shannon Glen Court, and the path system would encourage bike and ped use,
which was consistent with the neighborhood model principles. She said that they were proffering
a sidewalk from the southern entrance south, which would be important for connection to the
neighborhood center on the parcel to the other side of Town Center Drive.

Ms. Schweller said that she would now discuss the aspect of affordable housing. She said that
the existing plan called for 15%, which was 35 units, and the for-sale units, which only had to be
held for 60 days, would be at 80% AMI, and the for-rent units were offered at 120% AMI, and that
period of affordability was 10 years. She said that there was also a cash-in-lieu option. She said
that they were attempting to get as close as possible to the County’s housing policy, as they were
proposing 20% affordable housing, or 68 units, rented at 80% AMI for 15 years, and would all be
provided onsite.

Ms. Schweller said again that there would be 20% of the units for 15 years, the rental rate would
not exceed 30% of the 80% AMI, including all utilities. She said that they would like to do more,
and that Breeden was very supportive of affordable housing, but the problem remained that it
would not be economically viable until they had some developer incentives. She said that if they
were approved for zoning, they could work on a performance agreement that would make sense
with perhaps a real estate tax abatement plan for the life of the affordability.

Ms. Schweller said that for schools, the current plan versus the proposed plan was only an
increase of 18 students. She continued that the summary of proposed changes was the housing
type, reducing to one type but surrounded by every other type in this area, increase in density
more appropriate to growth area,

More affordable housing units with a longer period of affordability, and ped and bike connection
rather than vehicular cut-through. She said that this would be a quality design and construction;
Berkmar Landing was also built by Breeden Construction, so the type of amenity and design that
would be made was familiar.

Ms. Schweller said that staff had listed three positive aspects to this request, but they believed
there were many more, such as more green space and recreational areas than required with
carefully thought-out amenities, recreation areas were fully available to Phase 1 Willow Glen, and
there was no traffic routing through Phase 1 Willow Glen, there would be a pedestrian-bicycle
connection between Phases 1 and 2, and less environmental impact.

Mr. Murray said that the stormwater pond on the visual shown appeared to have no vegetation
around it. He said that he strongly encouraged there to be a buffer made with plants, and for it to
function as stormwater, they must utilize native vegetation.

Ms. Schweller thanked Mr. Murray for his ideas. She said that they would work on that material
during the engineering phase and the stormwater management plan.

Ms. Firehock said that the design suggestion also limited the use of the pond by geese.

Mr. Clayborne asked Ms. Schweller asked why the change in the proposal was so drastic between
2007 and now. He said that his colleagues could determine whether it was a good thing or a bad
thing, but he would like to understand what drove those changes.

Ms. Schweller said that there had been a number of changes through the years and a number of
attempts to make changes. She said that the problem with the plan as it currently existed was

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 8
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



that it would require another $1.5M of cash proffers that would not be reasonable under today’s
state law, and those made the project economically unviable. She said that in addition to the cash
proffers, the vehicular connection between the two parcels would be $1M in addition, so it would
be an expensive project to develop as it was. She said that Mr. Ray had tried a number of things,
and Ms. Long had presented in front of the Planning Commission and the Board of Supervisors
to attempt a number of things to make the project work, one of them being in 2018, when an
application to rezone to allow commercial development along Dickerson Road.

Ms. Schweller said that Mr. Ray had that parcel under contract and was going to create
commercial with warehousing and loading docks, but that was not successful because of the
additional traffic it would bring, so they did some major site plan amendments and came before
the Commission again to attempt to reduce the proffers, bifurcating the proffers associated with
expanding the facilities, which was no longer allowed. She said that they tried to reduce the
proffers significantly by 2/3 and also for credit for units that could have been built under the RA
zoning, which was the initial zoning here, and that also failed.

Ms. Schweller said that Mr. Ray had tried several things and had been in contract with different
builders, and even had a contract to sell all the lots during that time, but because the proffer
reduction failed, he was unable to sell the lots. She said that now, he had Breeden Construction,
who was a high-quality, experienced constructor, ready to develop the apartment complex, and it
would be a project that would solve all the problems. She said that without the cash proffers, it
could be done, and it provided all of the amenities as she had described.

Mr. Clayborne asked who the target audience was for this project.

Ms. Schweller said that it would have 1-, 2-, and 3-bedroom units and could run the gamut. She
said that she envisioned there being professionals who needed to travel, due to the convenience
to the airport, and those who worked in the northern part of the County. She said that it was also
a great location because of Hollymead Town Center, and all amenities were there.

Ms. Firehock said that she could appreciate the factor of convenience.

Mr. Murray said that staff had a concern about the stress put on the already-overstressed nearby
schools. He said that they had also heard about the need for preschools in the area, and he
wondered if the applicant for the project had ever considered providing daycare onsite or some
sort of space where a preschool could exist. He asked if Ms. Schweller could also address the
staff’'s concern about the sidewalk not being provided on Dickerson Road.

Ms. Schweller said that she would not be able to answer the first question. She said that to her
knowledge, there was no plan for a preschool on the site and it had not been considered, but she
would defer to Mr. Revere for that answer. She said that she could certainly answer the question
regarding the sidewalk north of the site. She asked if she could have her presentation on the
screen again. Ms. Schweller said that Mr. Reitelbach had referred to VDOT regulations that had
been adopted this summer, “VDOT complete streets bicycle and pedestrian guidelines.”

Ms. Schweller said a few excerpts that applied to that included “ending a pedestrian access route
into a parking lot or roadway shoulder or stub-outs in anticipation of the future extension were not
acceptable means of terminating a pedestrian access route.” She said that if they looked at
Google Maps where the site was located and went north on that side of Dickerson Road, the only
thing there was large, open, green fields with single-family homes dotting the landscape.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 9
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Ms. Schweller said that there was nothing there that they would connect to, and then they would
meet Airport Road. She said that there was a lot of reason to go south, because in the
Comprehensive Plan, there was a proposed neighborhood center further south, and the regional
service center, Hollymead Town Center, to the east. She said that at this point, there were no
reasons to go north, so the question at this point was if they would dedicate frontage if needed
for a future sidewalk. She said that what could be seen in the plans was that the right-of-way was
already so wide that there was already plenty of room within the right-of-way for sidewalks, so at
this point it did not seem necessary. She said that during site planning, if staff determined that
there was something that was needed, they would certainly work with them at that point.

Mr. Bivins asked if the applicant owned the property that was in the corner of the intersection
shown.

Ms. Schweller said the intersection was Dickerson Road and Town Center Drive.
Mr. Bivins said that was correct. He asked if the applicant did not own the property.
Ms. Schweller said that was correct.

Mr. Bivins said that they were discussing putting in a piece of sidewalk that may or may not be
built someday based on the development of that corner site.

Ms. Schweller said that that was correct. She said that they were proffering to build the sidewalk
at the time they built the right-turn taper into the southern entrance, they would build the sidewalk
along there and grant an easement for the rest of it for grading, but the sidewalk along the frontage
to the south presumably would not be built until the owner developed his property.

Mr. Bivins said that anyone who lived in that community would really need some sort of connection
from there to bicycle or walk to Hollymead Center.

Ms. Schweller said that was true. She said that it would be shorter for them to go on the proposed
connector route.

Mr. Bivins said that that road may be shorter by vehicle but was more dangerous. He said that he
would not feel safe taking a stroller down that road because there was no sidewalk. He said that
he would want some sort of connection within the community.

Ms. Schweller said that she understood Mr. Bivins’ original comment. She said that it would be
safer to go through the community.

Mr. Bivins said that was a reason why they must have some sort of connectivity, whether it was
a road or pedestrian path. He said that he understood that the developer may not make their
return on investment, but the Planning Commission never heard from developers about what the
return on investment would be. He said that he would understand if they were going to do 198
units, which were allowed in Phase 2, but it was basically asking for a change in structures and
with the same senses. He said that he was concerned about why they were not putting a road in,
because the people in Phase 1 bought into Phase 1 assuming there would be 198 units with a
road. He said that he did not understand.

Mr. Bivins said that he wanted an answer to the question of why they were not just asking for 198
units but without making it as varied as it was in the original request and only with multi-family

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 10
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



units. He said that he struggled with why they were increasing it by almost half, and he knew the
answer would be because of the return on investment, which he in turn had no idea what it was.
He said that that went to his point that they did not know what the business plan on any of this
was, so they had to take what the applicant said and what their business plans were to accept
that.

Ms. Schweller said that Breeden had proposed 308 units, which was a 100-unit increase. She
said that almost 70 units would be affordable, so they wanted to do more only multi-family-housing
because that was what Breeden constructed. She said that what they would do to prepare Phase
1 residents for the interconnection was certainly fair, except that Phase 1 of the development had
happened over many, many years, so those residents who had moved in over the course of 2013
to 2021 probably were not all as familiar with the former application as the Commission may be,
and many had lived there for a long time and were used to their small street ending in a cul-de-
sac.

Ms. Schweller said that Templehof Court would remain private, and Shannon Glen Court was not,
but those residents likely felt that they were in an enclave, and all but four of the 36 residents
signed a petition to express their dismay at having a cut-through in their neighborhood because
they felt that it would be unsafe. She said that it was not the same as Eastern Avenue in Crozet
that was a through road and the houses were not backing their driveways into the road.

Mr. Bivins said that he appreciated that the street would change people’s lifestyles because it had
not yet been built during their time as a resident. He asked why they pushed the number of units
beyond 198. He said that the applicant did not have to come back to the Commission to ask for
an increase in density.

Ms. Schweller said that the prior project was approved for this mix of housing, so the applicant
needed to return to the Planning Commission if they were going to do this type of housing.

Mr. Bivins said that he understood that there was an image that said that there was a housing
mix, but at the end of the day, the mix was for 198 units. He said that right now, they were being
asked to increase the number significantly for density.

Ms. Schweller said that yes, the proposal was for greater density. She said that it was for
economic reasons, but it was also necessary for the development areas of the County. She said
that this group had analyzed how much development area they had and if they had enough for
the residences they need, and the answer was that they did not unless they did higher density on
the range that was permitted in each area, which was what they were trying to do. She said that
they were trying to get higher density, which was very appropriate in this area of the County,
surrounded by all types of other housing.

Ms. Firehock said that Ms. Schweller had stated that they were looking for 308 units and the staff
report said 324.

Ms. Schweller said yes. She said that they had proposed a maximum of 324 because they initially
applied for the rezoning almost 2 years ago, and during the time, as they had worked through the
planning process, Breeden had crystallized its plan, and the number was now 308. She said that
though they requested a maximum of 324, there would only be 308 apartment units.

Ms. Firehock said that legally, they would have to stick with 324 because that was what was in
the application.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 11
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Ms. Schweller said yes. She said that she was very clear when presenting unit numbers to use
308 and use 324 and to use the actual number.

Ms. Firehock said that she required clarification for the Commission’s vote.

Mr. Carrazana asked if the calculation on the 20% was based on the 308.

Ms. Schweller responded that it was. She said that it was 20% of whatever was constructed, so
they would provide 20% of whatever was constructed. She said a comparison was 308, since that
was what they expected, to show that there were 33 additional units.

Mr. Carrazana said that the application was for 327.

Ms. Schweller said it was 324 maximum.

Mr. Carrazana said he was unsure of how that was reconciled.

Ms. Firehock said that they could build 300 and it would be 20% of that and that was what they
were voting on. She said that they could revise the business plan to have a total of 292.

Mr. Carrazana said that he was simply further clarifying Mr. Bivins’ earlier point.

Ms. Firehock said that it was based on what was in the application and not what they ended up
building.

Mr. Carrazana said that he could understand the benefit of having a non-vehicular path and for
both developments to be separated, however, the only connectivity they had was pedestrian. He
said that he wondered if encouraging the bike paths more could be accomplished, as he did not
see any on the plans.

Ms. Firehock said that bike lanes could be added.

Mr. Carrazana said that the only one he saw that was connecting was noted with a darker brown
and was for pedestrians only.

Ms. Schweller said that it was intended to be a multi-modal path and those details could be worked
through during site planning. She said that she understood Mr. Carrazana wanted to see
protection of pedestrians from the bikes.

Mr. Carrazana said that biking should be encouraged through design.

Ms. Schweller said that that was good advice.

Mr. Missel said that Ms. Schweller had referred to the path as bike-ped, but it was written as
pedestrian-only, which was the source of the confusion.

Ms. Schweller said that she understood.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 12
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Mr. Missel said that it was helpful to have Ms. Schweller provide clarity on some of the connectivity
issues. He asked if part of that was driven by the need to expand the stormwater pond or could
not get across that area.

Ms. Schweller said yes. She said that they were trying to be sensitive to the intermittent creek
that ran along the southern border as well.

Mr. Missel said that it was obvious that they were driving through parking lots everywhere on this
site, and he was curious about the 5% number that he had asked staff about as well and if it could
be reduced even more. He said that in the area adjacent to the stormwater pond, it was nice to
have a lap around the pond, and the area of the outer perimeter of B3 and B2, they only had
single-loaded parking, whereas they had double-loaded parking adjacent to the pond. He said
that he wondered if there was a way to somehow provide single-loaded parking along the pond
to provide better pedestrian access and circulation to that.

Ms. Schweller said that in response to Mr. Missel’s initial question, Breeden Construction decided
on the number of parking spaces needed based on other developments, which was the reason
for that particular number.

Mr. Steve Edwards of Edwards Design Studio said that as seen in the illustration showed the
double bay of parking on the backside of B8. He said that it was meant to help accommodate
residents on both sides of the building, and garages were integrated into several of the buildings
to help reduce the amount of parking. He said that there could be a way that they could introduce
a path down that hill so there could be a complete circumnavigable route around the pond, but
that would likely come later in the site plan process.

Mr. Missel thanked Mr. Edwards for his response. He asked if this project was intended to be
phased, and if so, how it would develop.

Ms. Schweller said that she misunderstood the earlier question about the bike-ped trail so she
would pull up the plan again.

Mr. Edwards said that the project was intended to be one phase, but financing could potentially
change that. He said that the intent was to begin one building and continue directly into building
the next one, as they had done in all their other projects.

Ms. Schweller said that she was not aware of the notation that said the path was pedestrian-only,
so she wanted to get some clarification. She showed the plan on the slide, noting the connection
between the phases that said “pedestrian-bike connection,” but there was an existing pedestrian
connection that was being used while working on redevelopment. She asked if that was what was
being referred to earlier.

Mr. Carrazana said that the connector was an L-shape and colored dark brown. He said the notes
were on the revised site plan.

Mr. Missel said it was on page Z5.
Ms. Schweller said that they would identify that.

Mr. Carrazana said that it was noted as being pedestrian-only on that page.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 13
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Ms. Firehock asked if there were any other questions.

Mr. Edwards said that the application plan, which was Z4, was the binding plan, and it said it was
a “Class A Type 2 Pedestrian-Bike Connection” in this general area, which was indicated with the
dark brown. He said that Z5 was the illustrative plan and that said “pedestrian-bike only
connection” as well on it.

Ms. Firehock said that Z5 was not binding.
Mr. Missel said that it did say bike. He said that he had not read it previously.
Mr. Carrazana said that he had missed it as well.

Mr. Murray said he appreciated the consideration of walkability in this plan. He said that a key
concept in walkability was the ability to walk to services. He asked if the applicant had considered
being able to walk to a coffee shop, restaurant, school, or other local businesses that could be
integrated within the local development and also serve the local community.

Ms. Schweller said the development was 0.7 miles from Hollymead Town Center, with a walking
time of about 10 minutes. She said that no, the development would be purely residential and not
mixed-use. She said that all of the services needed were very near, so it was not in Breeden’s
plan to add to that.

Mr. Clayborne said that his notes indicated that 55 students would be added across the three
levels of schools. He asked what the number would be if this were developed by the by-right
density.

Ms. Schweller said that in the current approved housing mix if fully built out, there would be 51
more students, and what was proposed with the plan’s mix was 69. She said that across Phase
1 and Phase 2, it was an increase of 18 students over the entire plan.

Ms. Firehock asked if there were any other questions for the applicant.

Mr. Rapp said he had a few clarifications. He said that on the initial application that was made
with the initial rezoning, there were a total of 94 units that were part of the initial application. He
said that all unit types were included, which was one of the main principles of the neighborhood
model. He said that as stated by Commissioner Bivins, what they had was basically two separate
projects. He said that what was attractive about the initial application was the integrated mix of
units throughout all phases, and vehicular connection was not necessarily for getting from Point
A to Point B but was about integrating those two phases from a design standpoint to make the
phases feel like one community, so staff valued that aspect.

Mr. Rapp said that a comment was made about the capacity analysis that was initially done with
the Comprehensive Plan. He said that they ran three separate scenarios, and this information
was presented to the Commission recently. He said that all three scenarios, one for maximum
buildout, one for historical trends, and one for by-right, all had the capacity within the development
area. He said that they got tighter as they went down in humbers, but none of them showed that
they would be unable to meet the demand.

Ms. Firehock said she would now open public comment for this item. She asked if anyone would
like to speak.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 14
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Ms. Mary Ellen Isaacson said that she lived on Bayberry Way and her house backed up to the
empty land where the second phase would be going. She said that according to these maps, she
had seen multiple images of her lot on the maps, so her lot would be backed up against the
proposed pond. She said that she had lived there for about six years and was happy to hear that
there would also be some single-family homes behind them, the density of the housing was
supposed to get denser as it went toward Dickerson Road. She said that she was not happy to
find out that there would be such high density right behind her house. She said that from a traffic
standpoint, it was very difficult to get from Town Center Drive to turn onto Dickerson Road in the
mornings due to the traffic on Dickerson Road, and she was unsure if that had been taken into
consideration.

Ms. Isaacson said that she did not think the residents would have any problem walking to
Hollymead Town Center, but the ability to walk to and from the airport was questionable because
there were no sidewalks on Dickerson Road, and she did not know anyone who would like to do
that. She said that she could walk from her house to the airport in 15 minutes, but there needed
to be sidewalks and she would not attempt it without them. She said that part of her concern was
the height, because single-family homes traditionally are not very high, so she assumed the new
construction would not be very tall, and there was a creek that ran through Deer Wood and Willow
Glen. She said that these tall buildings would change the character of the community of people
who lived in Deerwood, who were expecting to look out at single-family homes behind them.

Mr. Neil Williamson with the Free Enterprise Forum stated that as an organization, they did not
take positions on projects, and they did not have a position on this project. He said that he wanted
to call out this moment for the Commissioners who would be working on the Comprehensive Plan,
and the moment where they were adding 126 units to a greater-than-10-acre parcel, and how that
felt with the concerns they had, the capacity analysis indicated there would be just enough land
for them to get to 20 years. He asked how they should be planning the Comprehensive Plan
considering where the Commission was at this moment with this application.

Ms. Firehock asked Ms. Shaffer if there was anyone online who wished to speak on this
application.

Ms. Shaffer said there were two speakers. She asked the first speaker to identify their self and if
they were affiliated with an organization. She said the speaker had three minutes to speak.

Ms. Carolyn Burnett said that she was a current resident since 2015 of the first phase of Willow
Glen, and the concern she wanted to speak about today was in support of removing the vehicular
connection between the two neighborhoods. She said that this was a key aspect of what made
the application materially change the quality and safety of the lives of the people in the existing
Willow Glen neighborhood. She said that she was unsure of how many people present had spent
time in Willow Glen, but it was comprised of a high number of very young families who had young
children who played in the street.

Ms. Burnett said that the width of Shannon Glen was impacted by the number of residents who
had to park on the street to contain the vehicles they had. She said that not all of them had
garages, so there were always cars parked on both sides of the road, and there was not enough
room for two lanes of traffic to pass through the parked cars safely, so as it stood now, even with
only the dead-end traffic from this very small neighborhood was already a place where it could
get precarious. She said that for this to be dwarfed not only by what was expected but an

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 15
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



additional 126 units of traffic would become a significant safety issue for the children in this
neighborhood and would significantly impact the quality of life.

Ms. Burnett said that finally, the rush hour traffic on Town Center Drive through Dickerson
frequently backed up past the neighborhood entrance. She said that if there were a vehicular
connection through the two neighborhoods, it would encourage people who were stuck in that
traffic and already waiting at the entrance of that neighborhood to try to pass through both of the
residential communities if they were going in the right direction to not have to wait out the
significant delay at the stop sign, creating further traffic than just the residential density, and further
concern for safety.

Ms. Shaffer introduced the next speaker.

Ms. Kate Ellwood said that she lived in Willow Glen Phase 1 and was the mother of a 7-year-old
child. She said that she had lived in the neighborhood for five years and that her child was 2.5
years old when they moved there. She said that there was still not much green space available
since the time they moved in. She said that children playing in the street happened because there
was nowhere else for them to play. She said that there were no open green spaces for the kids
to play, so playing in the street was second nature to the kids, who did so safely. She said that
kids would let each other know when a car was coming, and having more than five cars enter the
neighborhood at one time was overwhelming to the kids, so she could not imagine having three
hundred cars coming through the neighborhood. She said that the kids were very aware already
of the lack of play space in this neighborhood, and they had adjusted to this way of living. She
said that they kicked balls, set up bounce houses in the streets, and played basketball.

Ms. Ellwood said that taking away a safe space was like taking away a part of their childhood and
would increase their anxiety and add to mental health issues. She said that studies had shown
that taking a cul-de-sac or dead-end street and turning it into a through-way street caused an
increase in anxiety in children. She said that she did not hear anything mentioned about children
tonight from the Commission, and she hoped that they could be as concerned about vegetation
and the pond and the geese’s quality of life as they were their children. She said that this was
where their kids played, and it was important to have safety as their top priority. She said that she
had read over the entire 29 master plan today, and some language that stuck out to her was that
it was essential to respect and work with the terrain, and it should improve access and ensure
safety and quality of life.

Ms. Ellwood said that she heard someone mention that this would connect the two communities,
and that could be further from the truth. She said that this would definitely divide the communities
by having cars going through and heavy traffic would only cause a negative association with the
new neighborhood. She said that she supported the bike and ped path, and she had lived in a
community in Ohio where both the bike and pedestrian path coexisted beautifully and was
wonderful. She said she hoped the Commission would consider not just the impact of traffic, of
which the huge impact had a huge component in the master plan, and they should let that work
itself out with all the engineers who were working on traffic patterns in town. She said that it would
not be improved upon with 300 cars going through a neighborhood. She said that she hoped they
would take the children as their first priority and the safety and quality of life of the residents who
already lived there.

Ms. Schweller said that she wanted to focus on the comment about the vehicular connection. She
said that the vehicular connection was not needed to bind Phase 1 and Phase 2 together, and it
would in fact do the opposite as Ms. Ellwood pointed out. She said that Mr. Ray had actually built

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 16
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



a playground for the Phase 1 residents in Phase 2 so that there would be a place for children to
go. She said that was also accomplished through the interim pedestrian trail. She said that if they
had the pedestrian connection between Phase 1 and Phase 2, all of the Willow Glen residents
could use all the amenities, and this project provided far more amenities than the prior project did,
as well as more units and more affordable units, better stream protection, and more and better
amenities.

Ms. Schweller said that the townhomes and condos of the existing project were also three stories,
so it would not feel different to the neighbors, but most importantly, this project would not be built
with the millions of proffers, which was why it had been sitting and was why Mr. Ray had tried for
12 years to get this changed, and when the proffer laws changed, he came again. She said that
it would not happen, so she hoped perfection would not be the enemy of the good that they were
trying to accomplish with this project, and the existing project could not be built, so they wanted
to provide a really good project that was, in many ways, superior to what existed currently.

Ms. Firehock said that the Planning Commission had no way to ascertain the financial viability of
any project without any kind of proforma statement, so they were not considering that. She said
that a statement could be made about the proffers, but they could not objectively evaluate that
without a spreadsheet. She said that it was a statement that they had no way to evaluate. She
said the item was before the Planning Commission for discussion and deliberation. She said that
the application had changed from a mixed variety of units to one type of unit, and there were other
types of housing that had been built in the first phase. She said that while this was part of that
same development, it was much denser than the prior application.

Ms. Firehock said comments had been made about whether they were putting tall buildings too
close to the neighborhood, but there was a large pond separating some of those units and the
neighborhood, so it was not necessarily right up against it, and they had also heard that they
would provide other amenities in places for the children who were currently playing in the roads
due to lack of sufficient parkland nearby. She said that they had been supportive of greater density
in the development area, so the question now was whether this was a quality development that
provided enough additional or different types of benefits that made it worth it to come back with a
radically different plan that was still residential but bared little similarity to the first application
submitted. She asked to hear from the members of the Commission, noting that there was no
representative for the Rio District on the Commission, so they would have to do their best to
represent that district.

Mr. Murray said he would like to begin by addressing the pedestrian versus vehicular connection.
He said that he was fully supportive of doing the pedestrian connection instead. He said that the
vehicular connection would not be an improvement.

Ms. Firehock asked if Mr. Murray meant that it would not improve traffic in terms of circulation.
Mr. Murray said that he thought it would provide a detriment.

Ms. Firehock asked if Mr. Murray had a comment on the use itself of the apartment model.

Mr. Murray stated that the County had a deficiency of that particular housing type, so he was glad
to see more apartments, but he did not know if it needed to be all apartments. He said that he

was glad to see more apartments in general, but he was more of a fan of mixed-use developments
and did not like to see the absence diversity in types of use.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 17
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Mr. Clayborne said that he had both positive comments and concerns. He said that he had no
issue with the density and that he agreed with Mr. Murray that the pedestrian-bike path was the
appropriate way to connect the site. He said that the lack of diversity in housing was disappointing
and thought it would be nice to have opportunities for home ownership within that area as well.
He said that there were no longer impacts on the schools addressed—it was glossed over—which
he found to be problematic. He said that if they were concerned about kids running around, the
site plan looked like 12 buildings and a sea of asphalt, so it did not take that into consideration
either.

Mr. Bivins said that he had previously spoken about the lots of communities that were like a ballard
community, of which he was firmly against. He said that he understood and had heard the passion
about why children should be able to play in the street, and there was a certain nostalgic quality
about that statement. He said that he could appreciate that piece, but also thought there was a
real need in the community to be able to connect and integrate communities with those kinds of
connections. He said he thought the original concept plan, on Page Z2, worked well with the
density presented, with perhaps some structures changed to increase the density, but for this
community, it worked well in general with those structure types.

Mr. Bivins said he understood there may be limitations in height, but he thought the earlier plan
was better for what they had been asking for. He said that the plan that was being presented to
them had things that he understood, but it was not enough for him to say yes. He said that as a
community, they should get away from always solving connectivity with ballards and he could not
support that. He said that he was supportive of the sidewalks proposed by the applicants for
Dickerson Road but thought that was a meaningless gift for the future, because unless they could
buy out the properties they did not own, there would never be an opportunity for a connecting
sidewalk, so he did not know what the value of the offer of a sidewalk on Dickerson Road was.

Mr. Carrazana said that he agreed that the density of certain areas that were appropriate. He said
that he was concerned because of the scale around it, but he thought this development had done
a good job of trying to buffer and mitigate that, so there were not a lot of places where they were
coming close, perhaps in B9 or B10. He said that he agreed with the earlier comments about
trying to create more green space even at the cost of parking, being able to still balance the need
for parking with the need to create more green space and pedestrian and bicycle interactions. He
said that a road would separate the communities more, and just because there was a street, it did
not necessarily connect people, while bike and ped paths might allow for more interaction than
passing by in cars.

Mr. Carrazana said that there was a better opportunity to think about how they created those
walking paths, more opportunities for more buffers, and less asphalt if possible, so he would
encourage that. He said that both he and Mr. Missel did not see that it did say “pedestrian bike”
as one word, but it was in fact noted. He said that he encouraged the development of that and
believed that they should think about how that worked so that both phases felt that it was part of
their amenities. He said that it would do more to bring people together and give people the
opportunity to meet and see each other, and he thought there was a lot of promise to the
development. He said that he was not opposed to the new proposal.

Ms. Firehock said that she could not hear Mr. Carrazana.

Mr. Carrazana said that he was not opposed to the new proposal.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 18
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Mr. Missel said that diversity would be best, but in this case, what should be kept in mind for the
future was balancing the ability to gain density within the development area with what was part of
the larger regional context. He said that the applicant had mentioned that it was a single use;
however, it was within a field of a lot of other diverse scales, so it was an appropriate way, and
something they should keep in mind moving forward. He said that in terms of density, the density,
open space, and parking were all linked. He said that the density was appropriate for this location
and to increase the density. He said that if they were going to do that, adding that balance of open
space like they talked about with trying to reduce parking, but he understood sometimes it could
not be done. He said that they should attempt to think about how to enhance the open space by
strategically thinking about where the parking could be located. He said that the affordable
housing proposal was commendable and appreciated.

Mr. Missel said that in terms of the circulation and interconnectivity piece, he agreed with his
colleagues that there was a way to do interconnectivity with vehicles correctly, and unfortunately,
to do so here would be forceful and done incorrectly. He said that however, he did support
interconnecting streets as a general principle when it could be done correctly and safely, but he
did not think that that would be the case here. He said that he agreed with his colleagues for
connecting it with the bike-ped as the best way to approach that here. He said that finally, to
discuss buffers, in thinking about the pond and how it could be used as an amenity as well and
trying to increase as much as possible the area around that pond, while still appreciating the fact
that it did provide a buffer between the single-family Phase 1 and the new Phase 2. He concluded
that he was supportive of recommendation of the application.

Ms. Firehock said that she struggled with this application because she felt that it could be an even
better proposal. She agreed that the area around the pond could be widened in some way so that
when they were there, they had laid it out as a park. She said that it was a stormwater pond, and
she had seen ponds designed to be beautiful amenities, but to back up some of the parking along
the edge so that they could weave a path through there and make that loop or make it feel like a
park and not parking.

Ms. Firehock said that in terms of the pathways and connectivity through, they relegated the paths
to the sides with a buffer, but it was nice to walk through the community rather than to be relegated
to the edge when taking a walk. She said that she had challenged other applicants to that in this
chamber, and she had seen applicants revise to include a thread through the development so
that it was more interactive with the neighborhood and not on the periphery of the community.
She said that they could shift the buildings out and put the path through the middle so that it felt
like it was going somewhere.

Ms. Firehock said that in terms of the vehicular connection, she had little sympathy for people
who bought into a neighborhood that had a proposed connection and then when it came forward,
stated that it was unfair or that they did not want it, because that connection was meant to exist.
She said that she saw that the vehicular connection for this application did not suddenly make the
traffic less or solve other issues. She said that to the point of the neighbors saying that it was very
narrow, if it was such a pain to go through that neighborhood, people would likely not drive that
way, and the problem would solve itself.

Ms. Firehock said that however, because the connectivity did not gain much in terms of travel
time and did not get to a specific location, she did not see the point of creating a vehicular
connection. She clarified that she was not opposed to making connections that should be made.
She said that the design could be improved, but when looking at the bigger picture, there was
diversity of housing in the larger area, and while she liked the original design better and it was a

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 19
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



better neighborhood, she would not oppose the plan for that reason. She said that she was leaning
in support, with the caveats the ones she had already given. She asked if a commissioner was
ready to make a motion for this item.

Mr. Bivins said that there were several things that were the result of Richmond legislature requiring
that they could not do something to a plan that had been accepted and there was no sunset clause
for plans. He said that now, they were in a situation where, originally, Phase 2 was not the
dominant plan for these pieces of property, and Phase 1 was the thing that was hung off of the
community, and they were now doing the reverse. He said that they were now doing the reverse
because the plan had been sitting for 15 years. He said that as far as the use of land, the first
plan’s Phase 2 was more desirable to him, and while the new plan had more density, it was not
necessarily a plan that felt like a community, and that was the problem he had currently.

Mr. Missel said that some of the issues they were discussing were details of the plan, which was
important and good to convey. He said they were also focusing on the application plan as the
document that was the guiding principle, so a lot of what they talked about were things that could
be tweaked. He said that when thinking about the need for housing, affordable housing, and the
wisdom of putting densities in areas that were able to accept it from an infrastructure standpoint.

Mr. Missel said that while they could not see the proforma of the developer, he believed they had
to at least think of what they actually would build, and part of the reason they had gotten 54% of
total capacity in the County was because the market had changed, and they had not gotten to the
point where they could build it themselves and sell it. He said if they felt that this was a
development that could deliver the density, independent of the financing, they should rely on that.
He said that the first phase that was shown, he agreed from a design standpoint that it checked
a lot of boxes that the new one did not necessarily, but there were also likely many people who
could not have afforded to live there but could afford to live at the new one.

Mr. Bivins said that they could not know that because they did not know what the rent was going
to be here. He said that at one point, the application plan was very different. He said that while
he understood what Mr. Missel was saying, it was untrue because the application plan was passed
15 years ago.

Mr. Missel said that he was not debating that.

Mr. Bivins said that he understood the new plan, Z4. He said that he also wanted to show that for
the quality of living in their community, that would have been a better place to live. He said that
as a Commissioner, he could ask the applicant to simply keep the currently approved plan and
develop it as it was. He said that he was making a decision based on the applicant stating that
this construction was more affordable for them to build without ever seeing a proforma.

Mr. Missel said that he understood Mr. Bivins’ standpoint.

Mr. Bivins said that for the affordable housing, they were maybe going to build 60 houses at
maximum. He said that he was not willing to give up the creation of the future of their community
for 60 houses, because the County had other ways to get to that affordable housing. He said that
he wanted to ensure that when they had those discussions, it was a place that was inviting to
people to live and work in, in a place that they were putting a lot of investment in. He said that the
first plan did that, but the new one did not.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 20
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Mr. Missel said that he understood that the principles of design and livability in that space were
much better in the original plan, but the challenge was if anything would be built there. He said
that if it were not and they were truly trying to expand the portfolio of housing of Albemarle County,
this one would help achieve that.

Ms. Firehock asked if a Commissioner was prepared to make a motion.

Mr. Missel moved that the Planning Commission recommend approval of ZMA2021-01, Willow
Glen, for the reasons stated in the staff report and discussed today. Mr. Carrazana seconded the
motion.

Mr. Carrazana said that they should craft language about creating additional buffers around the
pond and the proximity of the parking.

Ms. Firehock said that they could add something about encouraging doing all that was possible
to widen the space between the pond and parking.

Mr. Carrazana said that they could certainly work on this during site planning.
Ms. Firehock said that that could be included as language but not as a condition.
Mr. Missel said that also included should be the representation on the application plan.

Ms. Firehock said that she would like to see the applicant put the green path through the
development instead of on the edge, which would again be an additional design attempt but not
a condition.

The motion passed (4-2). Mr. Bivins and Mr. Clayborne dissented.

Mr. Herrick said that there were two special exception requests. He said that he did not believe
vehicular access to be one of them, but Mr. Reitelbach had displayed the suggested motions on
the screen.

Mr. Reitelbach said that the first one was for modifying the recreational facilities from what was
required in the zoning ordinance to what was proposed, and the second was for the reduction in
parking.

Ms. Firehock noted that the Commission did not have authority over special exceptions, but only
made recommendations.

Mr. Herrick said that was correct.
Ms. Firehock said that they did not need to take that up.

Mr. Herrick said that was correct. He said that if the Commission wished to make a
recommendation, it could do so.

Ms. Firehock said that she wanted to clarify that it was not necessary to take them up, but there
were two before them. She asked if there was a motion.

Mr. Carrazana moved the Planning Commission to recommend approval of Special Exception
Request SE2021-00007, to modify the requirements for recreational facilities associated with the

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 21
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



Willow Glen development, for the reasons stated in the staff report. Mr. Missel seconded the
motion, which passed (6-0).

Mr. Murray moved the Planning Commission to recommend approval of Special Exception
Request SE2021-00008, to permit a reduction in the permitted required number of parking spaces
associated with the Willow Glen development for the reasons stated in the staff report. Mr.
Carrazana seconded the motion, which passed (6-0).

Ms. Firehock said that Mr. Bivins wanted to recognize the staff work that went into this very
complex application.

Adjournment

At 9:05 p.m., the Commission adjourned to November 29, 2022, Albemarle County Planning
Commission meeting, 6:00 p.m.

Charles Rapp, Director of Planning

(Recorded by Carolyn S. Shaffer, Clerk to Planning Commission & Planning Boards; transcribed
by Golden Transcription Services)

Approved by Planning
Commission

Date: 01/10/2023
Initials: CSS

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 22
FINAL MINUTES REGULAR MEETING - November 22, 2022



